
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

May 19, 2015  5:30 p.m. 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Will Britt 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 
A)  Proclamation presented to the City of Statesboro Public Works divisions recognizing 

the week of May 17-23, 2015 as "Public Works Week". 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 05-05-2014 Council Minutes 
b) 05-05-2015 Executive Session Minutes 
 

6. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2015-04: An 
Ordinance approving water and sewer billing, termination of service for non-payment, 
and billing adjustments. 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve  APPLICATION #  RZ 15-
03-04:  Jarvis Robinetta Barnes requests a zoning map amendment for .81 acres of 
property located at 335 Proctor Street from split zoning of CR (Commercial Retail)/R15 
(Single Family Residential) zoning districts to CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to 
allow for the construction of a funeral home.  (Tax Parcel Number S03000018000). 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve  APPLICATION #  V 15-04-
01:  Rebecca Thigpen, The Jones Company, Real Estate Design & Development 
Coordinator requests a variance from Article X of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to 
reduce the rear setback from the required 25’ to 10’ in order to meet GDOT front yard 
entrance requirements (Tax Parcel Number S31000014000). 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2015-11: A Resolution to adopt the 
second amendment to the fiscal year 2015 budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as expenditures/expenses, 
adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting expenditures or 
expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated. 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to Purchase 8 - 2014 Dodge Chargers, 2 - 2016 Ford Explorers 
and 1 - 2016 Ford Escape for the Statesboro Police Department.  This purchase is 
included as FY 15 CIP # PD - 1 in the amount not to exceed $350,000.00 plus $23,000.00 
from the budget amendment transferring funds to this CIP Project. 



 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2015-12: A Resolution requesting 
approval for the Statesboro Police Department to apply for the Bureau of Justice 
Assistance FY 2015 Competitive Grant - Body-Worn Camera Pilot Implementation 
Program.  This grant if awarded would require a 50% match from the City of Statesboro.  
Funding for this match could come from FY 16 CIP # PD – 35 which is proposed at 
$42,063.00 for Body-Worn Cameras. 
 

12. Consideration of a motion to purchase Net Motion Wireless VPN solution from Insight 
Public Sector in the amount of $23,252.20.  This purchase will be funded from the IT 
Service Fund and was originally budgeted for FY 2016 but will now be purchased from 
the 2015 budget. 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for the renovation of the old PD building 
for the expansion of the Municipal Court Room and relocated Municipal Court and 
Information Technology offices to Chris Merrill Construction in the amount not to 
exceed the budgeted amount of $385,000.00. The project will be primarily funded by 
2013 SPLOST. 
 

14. Other Business from City Council 
 

15. City Managers Comments 
 

16. Public Comments (General) 
A) Stephanie Ellis request to address Council regarding the proposed Ellis Open Air Flea 

Market to be located on Hwy 80 (Northside Drive East) next to University Tire. 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   
“Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 

Public Works Week Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS,  public works services provided in our community are an integral part of 
our citizens’ everyday lives; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the support of an understanding and informed citizenry is vital to the 

efficient operation of public works systems and programs such as solid 
waste collection, solid waste disposal, street maintenance, stormwater 
infrastructure maintenance, park maintenance, cemetery maintenance, 
and fleet maintenance; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the health, safety, and quality of life of this community greatly depends 

on these services and facilities; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the quality and effectiveness of these services and facilities, as well as 

their planning, design, construction and management, is vitally 
dependent upon the efforts and skill of public works personnel; and, 

 
Whereas,  the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated personnel who staff the 

public works divisions is materially influenced by the public’s attitude and 
understanding of the importance of the work they perform; and, 

 
Whereas,  in honor of the 55th annual National Public Works Week, sponsored by 

the American Public Works Association, it is most appropriate that we 
recognize the service of the public works personnel of the City of 
Statesboro; now, 

 
NOW, Therefore,  I, Jan J. Moore, Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia, do hereby proclaim the 

week of May 17 through May 23, 2015 as “Public Works Week” in the 
City of Statesboro; and, further extend appreciation to our Public Works 
personnel for the vital services they perform and their exemplary 
dedication to this community; and, call upon all citizens to acquaint 
themselves with the matters involved in providing our public works 
services and to recognize the contributions which our public works 
personnel make every day to our health, safety, comfort, and quality of 
life. 

 
      Passed and adopted this 19th day of May, 2015. 
 

 CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
        
 Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 

 
        

      Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

May 05, 2015 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on May 5th, 2015 at 9:00 a.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Will Britt, 
Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were Interim City 
Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, Assistant City 
Engineer Jason Boyles and Director of Planning and Development Mandi Cody.     
The Council Meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan Moore. 

 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Mayor Jan Moore. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  

A) Announcement of Frontier Communication’s, “America’s Best Communities 
Grant Award” by Allen Muldrew 
 
Downtown Statesboro Development Authority Director Allen Muldrew announced   
the City of Statesboro was one of fifty cities to receive this grant.  He also stated there 
is a round two and three that we will work hard to win. Mr. Muldrew give a big thank 
you for all the folks, who have made this grant application process a success, which 
include Mandi Cody, Andy Wilson with GSU and Tim Chapman with the Arts 
Center. This grant will be used for the “Blue Mile” and South Main Street 
Revitalization.  
 

B) Presentation of Proclamation for “S.H.I.N.E.” Clubhouse with Pineland BHDD 
recognizing May 7, 2015 as Children’s Mental Health Awareness Day in 
Statesboro and recognition of participation in the “Adopt a Spot Program”. 
 
Jason Boyles Assistant City Engineer stated the S.H.I.N.E. Clubhouse has adopted a 
location on Pitt-Moore Rd in the “Adopt a Spot Program”.  
Mayor Moore presented a Proclamation to S.H.I.N.E. Clubhouse in recognition of 
May 7th, 2015 as Children’s Mental Health Awareness Day. 
 

C) Recognition of the City of Statesboro “Slim by ‘16” 1st Quarter Winner 
 
Director of Human Resources Jeff Grant presented Yvonne Lane with a check in the 
amount of $100.00 for being the first quarter winner in the “Slim by 16” program.  
 
 
 
 



 
 

D) Presentation by GSU students Katie Reams and Abbie Pelech for their winning 
Living Wall/Vertical Garden Design to be constructed and planted in the Smith 
Alley creative corridor connector between the FAB Lab buildings. Construction 
and planting of the design to be funded by the Fab Lab’s $20,000 grant award 
from the GSU Sustainability Grant Funds. 
 
Katie Reams and Abbie Pelech , who are GSU Project Coordinators for the Living 
wall project, presented Mayor and Council with the design and workmanship of the 
Living Wall/Vertical Garden that will be located in the Smith Alley connecting City 
Campus with GSU Campus as well as Downtown Statesboro.  The Living Wall will 
serve as a data collection site for students.  They will look at data such as temperature 
changes in the ally now and when the plants are grown, water collections with the 
rain barrel, storm water diversion in this area and plant CO2 diversion throughout the 
living wall life span.   

 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 

 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 04-21-2015 Council Minutes 
b) 4-21-2015 Executive Session Minutes 

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve the consent 
agenda as it is written. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Administrative Hearings for alleged alcohol violations as pursuant to Chapter 6 of the City 
of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance: 
                                                                           
       Offense in 12 month period       Citation Date 
 

1.  Jason Franklin                       1st offense                          February 5, 2015 
     (Tabled from last Council Meeting)         

                  Shenanigans 
       1 University Plaza 
Mayor Moore conducted the hearing and all participants were sworn in by Mayor Moore. 
 
Mr. Franklin, owner of Shenanigans, in his absence, was represented by Mr. Classens and 
waived his right to a hearing and agreed to the violation of furnishing alcohol to underage 
persons.  Mayor Moore then asked for a motion and Mr. Franklin agreed, based on the evidence 
presented here today, that Council finds the licensee, his agents and or employees did violate 
Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro within the twelve month period 
immediately preceding this hearing. Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by 
Councilman Britt to accept the guilty plea from Mr. Franklin. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, 
Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 



 
 

For the penalty of the violation, Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman 
Britt to consider this a first offense with a warning. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the design plans for the City of Statesboro/Georgia 
Southern University Fab Lab and Business Innovation Center to allow for the final design 
and permitting of construction drawings. Presentation by GSU Project Architect Carrie 
Thorne. 
 
Director of Planning and Development Mandi Cody asked for this motion to be tabled until the   
June 2nd, 2015 Council Meeting. 
  
First reading and consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2015-04: An Ordinance 
approving water and sewer billing, termination of service for non-payment, and billing 
adjustments. 
 
Interim City Manager Robert Cheshire presented Council with a revised Ordinance that explains 
water and sewer billing, termination of service for non-payment and billing adjustments.  Mr. 
Cheshire explained this ordinance brings more clarity and consistency to the water and sewer 
billing.  
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve award of contract to Sikes Brothers Inc. for the City 
Street Resurfacing FY 2015 Project.  Sikes Brothers’ bid was in the amount or $708,455.65, 
based on unit price extensions, however, the Engineering Department requests approval to 
spend up to the budgeted amount of $763,230.11 in order to resurface additional street 
mileage.  Costs for additional work to be based on contractor’s unit bid prices.  
Construction to be paid for through a combination of Georgia Department of 
Transportation LMIG funds ($208,230.11) and 2013 SPLOST funds ($555,000). 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve award of 
contract to Sikes Brothers Inc. for the City Street Resurfacing FY 2015 Project.  Sikes Brothers’ 
bid was in the amount or $708,455.65, based on unit price extensions, however, the Engineering 
Department requests approval to spend up to the budgeted amount of $763,230.11 in order to 
resurface additional street mileage.  The costs for additional work to be based on the contractor’s 
unit bid prices.  Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed by a 5-0 vote.    
 
Consideration of a Motion to declare certain listed items as surplus and disposed of as 
recommended by Darren Prather, Purchasing Director and Jason Boyles, Senior Assistant 
Engineer. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Britt to declare certain listed items 
as surplus and dispose of as recommended by Darren Prather, Purchasing Director and Jason 
Boyles, Senior Assistant Engineer. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried with a 5-0 vote. 
  



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to award the sale of surplus property (0.310 of an acre located 
adjacent to Crescent Avenue) to Statesboro Primitive Baptist Church in the amount of 
$600.00.  If the sale is approved, the purchaser will be required to fund the construction of 
a cul-de-sac, per the City of Statesboro’s specifications, at this location. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman Lewis to award the sale of surplus 
property (0.310 of an acre located adjacent to Crescent Avenue) to Statesboro Primitive Baptist 
Church in the amount of $600.00.  The purchaser will be required to fund the construction of a 
cul-de-sac, per the City of Statesboro’s specifications, at this location upon approval of this sale. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried with a 5-0 vote. Lindsey Walker, representing the Statesboro Primitive Baptist Church, 
was also present to confirm the construction of the cul-de-sac would be the responsibility of the 
Church. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to set the Public Hearing for the FY2016 Budget for Thursday 
June 4, 2015 at 4:00 pm in the Council Chambers at City Hall. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion seconded by Britt to set a Public Hearing for the FY2016 
Budget for Thursday, June 4, 2015 at 4:00 pm in the Council Chambers at City Hall.  
Councilman, Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to appoint a Voting Delegate and Flag Bearer for the 2015 GMA 
Annual Convention in Savannah. 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion seconded by Councilman Britt to appoint himself 
(Councilman Lewis) to be a Voting Delegate and Flag Bearer for the 2015 GMA Annual 
Convention in Savannah.  Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of 
the motion. The motion carried with a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council: 
 
Mayor Moore stated the Alcohol Work Session that was set for Wednesday May 13th needs to be 
rescheduled due to the City Attorney being unavailable.  Councilman Britt made a motion 
seconded by Councilman Riggs to reschedule the Alcohol Work Session for Wednesday May 
27th 2015 at 3:00 pm.in the Council Chambers at City Hall. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, 
Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried with a 5-0 vote. 
Mayor Moore also stated that Linda Akins would like to remind Council and the public that May 
7, 2015 is the National Day of Prayer on the Courthouse square at 12:00pm and invites all to 
attend. 
 
City Managers Comments 
 
Interim City Manager Robert Cheshire announced the Bulloch County Historical Society invites 
the public to the dedication of Renaissance Park located at the intersection of West Jones Avenue 
and Parker Street.  This event will be held on Thursday May 15th, 2015 at 5-6 pm  
 



 
 

 
Public Comments (General):  
 
Thurman Tillman, a partner with the United States 2015 Test Census stated that Statesboro was 
one of the test areas offering the census form on line. The census will conclude on May 31, 2015.   
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 10:15 am, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Britt to enter into 
Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012). 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Mayor Moore called the regular session back to order with no action taken in Execute Session. 
  
At 10:45 am, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to exit 
Executive Session. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
At 10:46 am, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Britt to adjourn. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:46 am. 
 
 



ORDINANCE 2015-04 
REGARDING 

WATER AND SEWER BILLING, TERMINATION OF SERVICE FOR NONPAYMENT, 
AND BILLING ADJUSTMENTS 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have previously adopted an ordinance governing water 
and sewer billing and termination of service for nonpayment;  
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend section 82-70 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Section 1.   Section  82-70 (Billing; termination of water service for nonpayment of charges) of 
the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended by replacing it in full, 
and shall read as follows: 
 
Sec. 82-70. Billing; termination of water service for nonpayment of charges, and billing 
adjustments 
  
(a)  Billing. All fees shall be billed monthly as part of a combined utility bill, unless the user does 
not have another utility service. In that case, single bills shall be sent. All bills shall be sent out 
using the billing cycle and schedule for payment as determined by the mayor and city council. 
 
(b)  Non-payment and termination of service. All bills not paid by the due date are subject to the 
late payment charge, and then immediate cut-off on the date printed on the bill, unless other 
arrangements are made pursuant to Water and Sewer Billing Procedures referenced below in 
Paragraph (d). 
 
(c)  New deposit required. In the event of non-payment and service cut-off, the customer must 
pay the bill in full, the late payment charge, a cut-off charge if applicable, and pay a deposit if it 
was either waived, previously refunded, or was used to make the payment, late payment charge, 
and/or the cut-off charge.  
 
(d)  Adjustments.  Adjustments to water and sewer bills shall be governed by the Water and 
Sewer Billing Procedures attached to this Ordinance as Attachment A which may be amended 
from time to time by Resolution of the Mayor and City Council.  A copy of these Water and 
Sewer Billing Procedures contained in Attachment A and any subsequent Resolutions amending 
these procedures shall be kept on file with the City Clerk for review by the public during the 
regular business hours of City Hall.  A copy of these Water and Sewer Billing Procedures 
contained in Attachment A and any amendments can be obtained through an Open Records 
Request.  The Water and Sewer Billing Procedures shall be administrated by the City Clerk or 
her designee.  
 



Section 2:  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 
 
Section 3:  This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 
 
First Reading         May 5th, 2015 
Second Reading     May 19th, 2015 
  
SO ORDAINED, this ___day of ____________ 2015 in Statesboro, Georgia.   
 
 
             
      __________________________________ 
      Jan J. Moore, in her capacity as Mayor of 
      Statesboro, Georgia. 
 
      ATTEST: 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Sue Starling, in her capacity as City Clerk of 
      Statesboro, Georgia. 
 



 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
ATTACHMENT "A" 

OF ORDINANCE NO.: __2015-04_____________________  
ADMINISTRATION OF WATER AND SEWER BILLING PROCEDURES- 

 
1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

 
 
1.1 PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this Section is to provide for the procedures for the adjustment of water and 
sewer bills.  All exemptions or adjustments to water and sewer bills shall be made pursuant to 
these administrative procedures. 
 
1.2 EXEMPTIONS FROM TERMINATION OF SERVICE DUE TO HARDSHIP; 
WAIVER OF LATE FEES, COLLECTION FEES AND DEPOSITS  
 
1.2.1: In cases of hardship the City Clerk is authorized to grant an exception from termination of 
service provided for in Section 82-70(b) of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro, and 
set up a payment plan whereby the account shall be brought current within three (3) consecutive 
billing cycles.  Such a payment plan can only be entered into once in a 24-month period. Failure 
to meet any term of the payment plan shall terminate the payment plan, and the services shall be 
terminated. 
 
1.2.2:   In cases of hardship the City Clerk is not authorized to waive the assessment of late 
payment charges and/or collection fees provided for in Section 82-70(b) of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Statesboro. 
 
1.2.3:  The City Clerk shall not have authority to grant a hardship exemption from the 
termination of service for longer than three (3) consecutive billing cycles. 
 
1.2.4:  In cases of hardship where the customer cannot bring the bill current within three (3) 
consecutive billing cycles, upon recommendation by the City Clerk, the City Manager is 
authorized to set up a payment plan whereby the account shall be brought current within six (6) 
consecutive billing cycles.  Such a payment plan can only be entered into once in a 24-month 
period. Failure to meet any term of the payment plan shall terminate the payment plan, and the 
services shall be terminated. 
 
1.2.5:  In cases of hardship the City Manager is not authorized to waive the assessment of late 
payment charges and/or collection fees provided for in Section 82-70(b) of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Statesboro. 
 
   



 
 

2 
 

1.3 BILLING ADJUSTMENTS DUE TO WATER LEAKS 
 
1.3.1:  The customer is responsible for promptly discovering and making any necessary repairs to 
stop the loss of water. The City has no obligation to adjust accounts when the water has been 
metered properly.  However, the City wants to encourage customers to make prompt and 
permanent repairs. 
  
1.3.2:  The City Clerk shall have the authority to issue a credit adjustment to the water and/or 
sewer account of a residential customer who has experienced the loss of metered water beyond 
the customer's normal and reasonable control as below provided. 
 
1.3.3:  For leaks where the lost water did not return to the sewer system, credit adjustments by 
City Clerk shall be made in the following manner:  the sewer charge shall be reduced to the 
average of the three (3) previous month’s sewer charge excluding the month(s) of excessive 
water consumption. 
   
1.3.4:  For leaks where the lost water did enter the sewer system, only one credit adjustment can 
be made in any 24 month period.  Credit adjustments by the City Clerk shall be made as follows:  
to reduce the water charge the City Clerk shall use the average of the three (3) previous month’s 
water consumption excluding the month(s) of excessive water consumption.  The customer shall 
pay the base rate, the three month average, plus one-half of the water loss.  The sewer charge 
shall not be reduced.   
 
1.3.5:  For leaks on water only accounts, only one credit adjustment can be made in any 24 month 
period.  Credit Adjustments by the City Clerk shall be made as follows:  the City Clerk shall use 
the average of the three (3) previous month’s water consumption excluding the month(s) of 
excessive water consumption.  The customer shall pay the base rate, the three month average plus 
one-half of the water loss. 
 
1.3.6:  There shall be no billing adjustments for water loss given to any residential account that 
has one meter serving more than one residence.  However, upon verification by Department of 
Water and Wastewater that the lost water did not enter the sewer system an adjustment may be 
made pursuant to Section 1.3.3 above. 
 
1.3.7:  There shall be no billing adjustments for leaks given for water billed through an irrigation 
meter. 
 
1.3.8:   There shall be no billing adjustments for water loss given to any commercial, industrial, 
or governmental account.  However, upon verification by Department of Water and Wastewater 
that the lost water did not enter the sewer system an adjustment may be made pursuant to Section 
1.3.3 above. 
 
1.4.   SWIMMING POOLS 
 
1.4.1      No adjustments shall be made for water used in a swimming pool. 



 
 

3 
 

 
 
1.5   BILLING ADJUSTMENTS NECESSARY TO AVOID A MANIFEST INJUSTICE 
TO THE CUSTOMER OR UNJUST ENRICHMENT TO THE CITY 
 
1.5.1:  The City recognizes that these administrative procedures cannot provide for every 
possible circumstance for which a billing adjustment would be necessary to avoid manifest 
injustice to the customer or unjust enrichment to the City.  As such appropriate discretion to 
make billing adjustments must vest in City staff, subject to review and approval by the City 
Manager.  
 
1.5.2:  If in the opinion of the City Clerk a billing adjustment is necessary to avoid manifest 
injustice to the customer or unjust enrichment to the City, the City Clerk shall recommend an 
appropriate billing adjustment to the City Manager.   
 
1.5.3:  The City Manager, upon review and investigation of the City Clerk’s recommendation 
shall have authority to accept, reject or modify the terms of the billing adjustment recommended 
by the City Clerk. 
 
1.6  EXEMPTIONS FROM TERMINATION OF SERVICE, WAIVER OF LATE FEES, 
COLLECTION FEES FOR AN EXEMPLARY PAYMENT HISTORY 
 
1.6.1:   If a residential account holder has never been late on payment of their water and sewer 
bill, never had a check returned and otherwise had an exemplary payment history for SIXTY (60) 
consecutive billing cycles, the City Clerk may exempt the account from termination of services, 
and waive all late fees and collection fees. 
 
1.6.2:  Upon the grant of the above exemption, the City Clerk may not grant another exemption 
pursuant to Section 1.6.1 to that residential account holder unless that residential account holder 
is not late on payment of their water and sewer bill, never has a check returned and otherwise has 
an exemplary payment history for SIXTY (60) consecutive billing cycles subsequent to the date 
of the last exemption granted pursuant to Section 1.6.1.   
 
1.6.3:  No exemption under Section 1.6 shall be granted to a commercial, industrial, or 
governmental account. 
   
1.7 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
1.7.1:  No employee of the City of Statesboro or a member of the employee’s household or 
immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their water 
or sewer bill without the written consent of the City Manager. 
 
1.7.2:  No appointed official of the City of Statesboro, e.g. the City Manager, the City Clerk, the 
City Attorney, and the Municipal Court Judge, or a member of the appointed official’s household 



 
 

4 
 

or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their 
water or sewer bill without the written consent of the Mayor.    
 
1.7.3: No elected official of the City of Statesboro or a member of the elected official’s 
household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, 
to their water or sewer bill without the written consent of two (2) other elected officials. 
 
  
1.8: SEVERABILITY 
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of these administrative procedures are for 
any reason held to be unlawful or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of these administrative procedures. 
 
 
 



 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

RZ 15-03-04 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

335 Proctor Street 

LOCATION: 335 Proctor Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Rezone from split zoning of CR (Commercial 

Retail) & R15 (Single Family Residential) 

districts to CR (Commercial Retail) zoning 

district. 

APPLICANT:  Jarvis Robinetta Barnes 

OWNER(S): Jarvis Robinetta Barnes 

ACRES:  .81 Acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S03 000018 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
2 (Lewis) 

   

 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a zoning map amendment for .81 acre lot located at 335 Proctor Street to be rezoned to CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district.  The subject site is currently split zoned; the south portion of the lot that fronts 
Proctor Street and Morris Street is zoned CR (Commercial Retail); the north portion of the lot that fronts Morris Street is 
zoned R-15 (Single-Family Residential).  The applicant would like to utilize the subject site as a funeral home.  As 
funeral homes are not permissible uses within residential zones, the entire lot is requesting to be zoned CR 
(Commercial Retail). (See Exhibit A – Location Map, Exhibit B – Proposed Concept Plan, Exhibit C- Photos of 

Existing Funeral Home/Sylvania, GA) 

 

BACKGROUND:   

Years ago, the entire lot was utilized as a funeral home which was operated and owned by the applicant’s family.  The 
original funeral home was located to the direct west of the lot that fronts Proctor Street on the portion of the property  
zoned CR (Commercial Retail).  To the direct east of the funeral home, fronting Proctor Street and Morris Street a 
single family residence structure was constructed.  The funeral home was destroyed some time ago in a fire.  The 
single family residence still exists and is currently occupied.  The portion of the lot where the funeral home was once 
built remains currently vacant with only the concrete foundation remaining.  The rear portion of the lot that is currently 
zoned R15 (Single Family Residential) and fronts Morris Street on the eastern property line is vacant.   

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R15 (Single Family Residential) & R4 (High 
Density Residential) 

Single family houses; apartment complex 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) & R10 (Single Family Church; single family structures 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

Residential) 

EAST: PUD (Planned Unit Development)  Single family subdivision 

WEST CR (Commercial Retail) & R15 (Single Family 
Residential) 

Personal services; school; single family houses 

 

Properties to the north, south, east, and west are predominantly single family homes and neighborhoods.  There are 
a few commercial retail businesses located on to the south and west such as an old gas station currently being used 
as a church, a janitorial service and Julia P Bryant Elementary school (See Exhibit D-Photos of the Subject Site and 

Surrounding Properties). 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Established/Existing Traditional Neighborhood” character area as identified by the 
City of Statesboro 2014 Future Development Map (See Exhibit E) within the City of Statesboro Updated 2014 

Comprehensive Plan.  The Established character area is traditionally residential while major corridors support a mix 
of residential and commercial uses.  

Small to mid-size retail and commercial, offices, services, and multi-family residential are all appropriate land uses for 
properties within the Established/Existing Traditional Neighborhood character area. Some suggested development 
and implementation strategies for the area include the following:  

 Neighborhood-scale retail and commercial 

 Small scare office 

 Neighborhood services 

 Small lot single family residential 

 Garage Apartments 

Statesboro Updated 2015 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 17. 

 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

 

ANALYSIS: 

The request to rezone the subject property from CR (Commercial Retail) / R15 (Single Family Residential) should be 
considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies articulated within the city’s two (2) primary land use 
policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range 
Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in conformance with the requirements of the 
proposed CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district for commercial retail uses as set forth in the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 
Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 
 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

a. Adjacent and nearby properties are both zoned and utilized mainly as a residential use with 
several CR (Commercial Retail) uses to the south and west of the subject site. The residential 
uses range from single family to medium density multi family. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 

health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 
(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 
(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

a. The property is adequate in size and shape to develop in conformance with the CR 
regulations. 

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 

development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

a. The property contains one single family structure currently in use.  Otherwise, it has remain 

undeveloped since the loss of the previous funeral home due to fire. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 

community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 

environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

a. Transportation patterns and congestion along Proctor Street and Morris Street would be 

impacted by the proposed development of this site.  However, this impact would be limited to 

service times only. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

a. Commercial Retail zoning is appropriate for the character area of the property as identified by 
the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    

Staff has no objection to the requested zoning map amendment.  However, staff would suggest the following conditions 
be applied to this site: 

1.  If a dumpster or other large scale sanitation equipment is utilized at the site, it shall be enclosed according to 
the specifications of the City of Statesboro.  

2. Access easements along the property will be granted to the City of Statesboro for proper maintenance of storm 
drainage system with the expressed ability for the City to cut and install any necessary storm ditches or other 
facilities common to management of the drainage system. 

3. Given the residential surroundings of the property, commercial signage at the site shall be governed by the 
nonresidential use section for Sign District 1.  The site shall not have a double frontage allowance.  Electronic 
message boards are not permissible. 

4. Sidewalks shall be constructed along the property’s frontage at both Proctor Street and Morris Street, at least 
5’ in width, to the specifications of the City of Statesboro. 

5. Buildings on the site shall be constructed of either brick, masonry, or wood siding on all facades. 

6. Exterior lighting shall have a low level of luminescence that cast a color similar to day time light and should 

not interfere with the adjacent property or automobile traffic. 

7. Lighting standards shall meet those required by the Safe By Design Program of the City of Statesboro. 

8. Parking areas must be landscaped. Where a parking lot abuts a public sidewalk, a landscaped strip, or 

planter with a minimum width of five feet utilizing a combination of trees, shrubs, and flowers shall be 

provided.  

9. Foundation landscaping along fifty (50)% of the building length is required for each building on the property. 

10. All planting areas shall be protected from vehicle damage by the installation of curbing or other methods 

approved by the administrator.  Alternative barrier designs which provide improved infiltration or storage or 

storm water are strongly encouraged. 

 

11. Mechanical equipment and service areas shall be designed and located to minimize visual impact.  

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

12. The plant materials used in and around parking lots and adjacent to street rights of way and pedestrian ways 

shall be designed to assure visibility at intersections and safety of pedestrians.  Therefore, shrubs shall not 

exceed two (2) feet in height at maturity, and trees are to be pruned to at least six (6) feet above ground.  

 

13. All planting areas shall be stabilized with ground covers, mulches, or other approved materials to prevent 

soil erosion and to allow rainwater infiltration.  Rubber mulch is not acceptable. 

14. Grassed areas shall be finished with sod.  

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION: 

The Planning Commission recommended denial of application number RZ 15-03-04. Six members of the 
community were present and furnished a petition with eighteen signatures of those opposed for a total of 24 
opposed.  No one representing the application was present for the meeting.  The motion to deny the 
application was carried 5 to 0. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

EXHIBIT B: PROPOSED CONCEPT PLAN 

 

Front Elevation: 

 

 

 

Rear Elevation: 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 
EXHIBIT B: PROPOSED CONCEPT PLAN CONT’D 

 

Interior: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF EXISTING FUNERAL HOME 

The below photos are of an existing funeral home located in Sylvania, GA that was constructed by the 
applicant using the proposed concept plan presented in Exhibit D. 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE & SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

 

Photo 1: Subject Site (CR) from Proctor Street 

 

 

 

 

Photo 2: Subject Site (CR) to the Left of Photo 1: Foundation of the Original Funeral Home  

that was lost to fire years ago. 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 10 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE & SURROUNDING PROPERTIES CONT’D 

 

Photo 3: Rear portion of the Subject Site (R15) that front Morris Street from the east property  

Line and is the Area the Applicant wants to Construct the Proposed Funeral Home. 

 

 

 

 

Photo 4:  Planned Unit Development that is directly Adjacent to the above Photo. 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 11 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE & SURROUNDING PROPERTIES CONT’D 

 

Photo 6:  Properties to the West of the Subject Site- Residential & Commercial Retail 

 

 

 

Photo 7 & 8:  South & South East view from the Subject Site-Residential & Commercial Retail 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 12 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E: City of Statesboro 2014 Future Development Map 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 13 of 12 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

 

 





 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Planning and  Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348      (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458    (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

V 15-04-01 

VARIANCE REQUEST 

530 Fair Road 

LOCATION: 530 Fair Road 

 

REQUEST: 

Variance from Article X of the Statesboro 

Zoning Ordinance to reduce the rear setback 

from the required 25’ to 10’ in order to meet 

GDOT front yard entrance requirements. 

APPLICANT: The Jones Company 

OWNER(S): Jasper W. & Emily Stringer 

LAND AREA: .69 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
S31000014000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 4 (Riggs)  

   

 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article X, of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to reduce the rear setback 
from the required 25’ to 10’ in order to meet Georgia Department of Transportation front yard setback  of 100 feet from 
edge of pavement (right of way) to a building structure. (See Exhibit A – Location Map, Exhibit B- Conceptual Site 
Plan, and Exhibit C- Proposed New Prototype). 

 

BACKGROUND: 

The subject site is currently zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and abuts the College Plaza entrance on Fair Road.  The 
existing structure, Stringer Chevron Service Station, was built and has been open for business since 1968 (See 
Exhibit D- Existing Conditions & Demolition Plan).

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: Commercial Retail Commercial Retail; food services 

SOUTH: Exempt (GSU) & Commercial Retail GSU & Commercial Retail; food service 

EAST: Commercial Retail Commercial Retail; food service; retail; personal 
services 

WEST Exempt (GSU) Commercial Retail; office; food service 



 

Page 2 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

The subject property is adjacent to a commercial retail development and is surrounded by a variety of commercial uses 
including restaurants, retail, offices and personal services facilities to the north and east.  Properties across Fair Road 
to the south west and west are zoned EXP (Exempt) from city zoning as they are owned by the University System 
Board of Regents (See Exhibit C-Photos of Subject Site & Surrounding Properties) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject property lies within the Neighborhood Center Character Area as identified in the 2014 Future Development 
Map for the City of Statesboro.  

Vision: 

This character area is characterized by a blend of lower to medium density residential and commercial, 

personal service, and offices that are neighborhood scale in size and intensity.  This character area often 

acts as a buffer or transition area between single family residential areas and more intense commercial 

areas.  These areas are likely to experience uncontrolled strip development if growth is not properly 

managed. This character area strives to balance the provision of neighborhood services with the protection 

of nearby residential areas. 

Appropriate Land Uses: 

 Single family residential 

 Medium density residential 

 Neighborhood scale commercial, office, and service 

Suggested Development Strategies: 

 A mix of approximately scaled retail, services, and offices to serve neighborhood resident’s day to day need. 

 Residential development should reinforce the center through locating higher density housing options 

adjacent to the center. 

 Pedestrian oriented, with strong walkable connections between different uses 

 Road edges should be clearly defined by locating buildings at roadside with parking in the rear. Include 

direct connections to greenspace and trail networks. 

 Enhance the pedestrian friendly environment by adding sidewalks and creating other pedestrian friendly 

trail/bike routes linking to other neighborhood amenities. 

 Encourage compatible architecture styles that maintain local character. 

 Particular attention should be paid to signage to prevent visual clutter. 

 Encourage way finding, on site and monument style signage. 

 Residential development should reinforce the traditional town center through a combination of rehabilitation 

of historic buildings and compatible new infill development. 

 Encourage minimal building setback requirements from the street and parking in the rear to ensure that the 

corridors become more attractive as properties develop or redevelop. 

 Implement traffic calming measures along major roadways. 

 Enact guidelines for new development that enhances the scenic value of the corridor and addresses 

landscaping and architectural design. 

 Provide pedestrian linkages to adjacent and nearby residential or commercial districts 

 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently serviced by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety.   

 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property is located immediately adjacent to a floodplain and may be within the floodplain.  Verification of 
floodplain location and related issues will need to be addressed during standard permitting issues. 

 

 



 

Page 3 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

ANALYSIS: 

The subject site is zoned CR (Commercial Retail). Therefore, the use and development of the land is governed (in part) 
by Article X of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance.  

 
Section 1801 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance lists the following four (4) factors that the Mayor and Council 
[could] consider to be true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 
(1) There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its size, 

shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common to other 
land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

 There are no special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic that is not common to other land or 
buildings in the general vicinity or the same zoning district. 
 

(2) The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 

 The application for consideration is the result the applicant’s desired building square footage 
on this subject property ( approximately 4074 square feet on .69 acre site) and the GDOT 
setback rule of 100’.  

 
(3) The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and  

 Application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would not create an 
unnecessary hardship in terms of land use and ordinance application. 

 
 

(4) Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 
purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 

 Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good nor would it impair 
the purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. Each consideration of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance considered herein may be addressed through proper life safety arrangements and 
building codes setbacks; and appropriate provision of access to the proposed parcel (the three 
alternatives explained above). 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

If the Council determines that the criteria exist to warrant the award of a rear yard setback from 25’ to 5’ for this 
property, staff would suggest the following conditions be applied: 
 

1. Easements. Developer must secure appropriate access easements for the City of Statesboro to provide 
proper sanitation services to the site.  Such easements shall be at the specifications of the City of 
Statesboro. 
 

2. Storefront Design.  The following architectural features should be used along the building elevations, as 
applicable: 

 
(a) Buildings should have consistent spacing of similar shaped windows with trim or other decorative 

molding on all building stories. 
(b) Large display windows should be employed on ground floor storefronts. Display windows should be 

framed to visually separate the ground floor from the second floor. 
(c) All buildings with a flat roof should have a decorative cornice at the top of the building; or eaves, 

when the building is designed with a pitched roof. 
(d) Cornices or changes in material can be used to differentiate the ground floor of buildings that have 

commercial uses from the upper floor(s) that may have offices or residential uses.  Ground floor 
facades should utilize cornices, signs, awnings, exterior lighting, display windows and entry insets. 

 
3. Building Materials.  Primary building materials shall be brick or stucco.  Building materials shall not create 

glare.  Highly reflective materials such as aluminum, unpainted metal, and reflective glass shall not be 
permitted. 
(a) Clear glass windows shall be used for commercial storefront display windows and doors. 
(b) Buildings shall be consistently detailed on all sides.  Windows and doors shall be defined with detail 

elements such as frames, sills, and lintels, and placed to visually establish and define the building 
stories and establish human scale and proportion. 



 

Page 4 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

(c) Exposed rough or re-sawn siding and exposed, untreated concrete shall not be permitted as a 
finished exterior.  Metal siding and vinyl siding (except as accent materials) are prohibited.   

(d) Accessory structures and buildings should be similar in material and color to the primary building 
on the site.  

(e) No Pre-engineered metal roofing, built up roofing, or membrane roofing is allowed. 
(f) All facades of a buildings shall use materials consistent with those used on the front of the building, 

and should be designed with similar detailing and be comparable in quality and materials. 
(g) Flat roofs shall incorporate finished parapet walls with three dimension cornice treatments designed 

to conceal the roof and roof mounted mechanical equipment. 
 

4. Sidewalks and Pedestrian Areas. 
a. Sidewalks and pedestrian areas shall be provided along the public right of way for the property. 

b. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of 6’ wide and to the specifications of the City of Statesboro 

Department of Engineering. 

c. Sidewalks shall use decorative paving that is consistent with the designs adopted by the City of 

Statesboro. 

d. Clearly defined, safe, pedestrian access shall be provided from parking areas and adjacent public 

sidewalks to building entrances. 

e. Continuous internal pedestrian walkways shall be provided from the public sidewalk or right of way 

to the main customer entrance of all principal buildings. 

5. Lighting. 

a. Exterior lighting shall have a low level of luminescence that cast a color similar to day time light and 

should not interfere with the adjacent property or automobile traffic. 

b. Lighting standards shall meet those required by the Safe By Design Program of the City of Statesboro. 

 
6. Section 3012.  Landscaping. 

a. All properties shall adhere to the provisions of the City of Statesboro Urban Forest Beautification and 

Conservation Ordinance.  Tree canopy shall be placed in the following manner, as applicable: 

1. Locate street trees along edges of sidewalks, maintain a clearly defined pedestrian travel 

zone. 

2. Locate street trees in larger planting areas, such as buffer strips adjacent to parking lots. 

3. Locate trees within parking areas. 

4. Install new trees where walkway widths permit; and/or 

5. Replace trees that are diseased or have passed their life cycle. 

b. Street buffer yards.  In addition to the landscaping and buffering requirements, parking lots shall be 

buffered from streets and rights of way by a landscaped strip or planter with a minimum width of five (5’) 

feet between the parking lot and the public space. 

c. Parking areas must be landscaped. required  

d. Foundation landscaping is required along fifty (50)% of each building on the property. 

e. Landscaping shall be maintained in good condition and kept free of dead plants, weeds, or debris.   

f. All planting areas shall be protected from vehicle damage by the installation of curbing or other methods 

approved by the administrator.  Alternative barrier designs which provide improved infiltration or storage 

or stormwater are strongly encouraged. 

g. The plant materials used in and around parking lots and adjacent to street rights of way and pedestrian 

ways shall be designed to assure visibility at intersections and safety of pedestrians.  Therefore, shrubs 

shall not exceed two (2) feet in height at maturity, and trees are to be pruned to at least six (6) feet 

above ground.  

h. All planting areas shall be stabilized with ground covers, mulches, or other approved materials to 

prevent soil erosion and to allow rainwater infiltration.  Rubber mulch is not acceptable. 

i. Grassed areas shall be finished with sod. 

j. In order to provide additional safety measures to the site through environmental design, clear visibility 

shall be maintained from the building to the street, parking areas, pedestrian walkways, and passing 

vehicles. 

7. Signage.  
a. All non-conforming signage must be removed from the property. 
b. All new signage must comply with regulations for Sign District 3 for the City of Statesboro. 

 



 

Page 5 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

8. Mechanical, Electrical, Utility, and Sanitation Equipment. 
a.  Utility service boxes, telecommunication devices, sanitation areas, mechanical equipment, and 

other such service areas shall be placed away from major pedestrian or automobile routes and 

screened from view in accordance with City of Statesboro specifications for such. 

b. Mechanical equipment and service areas shall be designed and located to minimize visual impact. 

c. Utilities shall be buried within rights of ways or easements as approved by the City of Statesboro. 

9. Drive Way Access.  Access to the property shall be to the standards of the City of Statesboro as approved 
by the City Engineer’s office.  Depending upon final site layout, this may require the closure and relocation of 
the existing drive cut. 
 

(Please note: Unless otherwise stated in any formal motion by City Council, staff considers the conceptual site plan 
(Exhibit B) submitted on behalf of the applicant for this request to be illustrative only.  Approval of the application does 
not constitute approval of any final building or site plan). 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

The Planning Commission recommended approval of application number V 15-04-01 with the following 
conditions: deletion of 2 (a), (b) and (d), due to their irrelevance to the project. Removal of item 4 with 
clarification added and deletion of the second sentence of item 9. 

Regarding the rear yard setback, the applicant actually requested 10’ instead of 5’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 6 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 



 

Page 7 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B: CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN 

 



 

Page 8 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C: PROPOSED NEW PROTOTYPE 

Front & Side Elevations 



 

Page 9 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

Rear Elevation:  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT C: PROPOSED NEW PROTOTYPE CONT’D 
 



 

Page 10 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

 
Fueling Station Elevation: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 11 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

EXHIBIT D:  EXISTING & DEMO PLAN 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT E: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE & SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 
 
Photo 1:  Subject Site from Fair Road 



 

Page 12 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

 
 

 
 
 
Photo 2:  Rear View of Subject Site from College Plaza 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT E: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE & SURROUNDING PROPERTIES CONT’D 
 
 



 

Page 13 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

Photo 3:  CR to the South East of the Subject Site 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Photo 4:  CR to the North West of the Subject Site 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT E: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE & SURROUNDING PROPERTIES CONT’D 
 



 

Page 14 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

 
Photo 5:  GSU Property located to the West & South on the adjacent side of Fair Road 
 

 
 
 
 
Photo 6:  College Plaza located to the rear of the Subject Site 
 
 

 
 
 
EXHIBIT E: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE & SURROUNDING PROPERTIES CONT’D 
 
 



 

Page 15 of 15 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # V 15-04-01 

April 29, 2015 

 

Photo 7:  Rear Property line of Subject Site 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Photo 8:  South East Property Line 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT F: COLLEGE PLAZA LETTER OF SUPPORT 
 

 



RESOLUTION 2015-11: A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE SECOND AMENDMENT 
TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2015 BUDGET FOR EACH FUND OF THE CITY OF 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA, APPROPRIATING THE AMOUNTS SHOWN IN EACH 
BUDGET AS EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES, ADOPTING THE SEVERAL ITEMS OF 

REVENUE ANTICIPATIONS, AND PROHIBITING EXPENDITURES OR 
EXPENSES FROM EXCEEDING THE ACTUAL FUNDING APPROPRIATED 

 
 

 THAT WHEREAS, sound governmental operations require a Budget in order to 
plan the financing of services for the residents of the City of Statesboro; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Title 36, Chapter 81, Article 1 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated (OCGA) requires a balanced Budget for the City's fiscal year, which runs from 
July 1st to June 30th of each year; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed a proposed Second 
Amendment to the Budget from the City Manager that includes some revenues/financing 
sources and expenditures/expenses not anticipated in the original Budget, and carries 
forward funding and appropriations for some projects and equipment budgeted in the 
previous fiscal year, but not purchased by fiscal year-end; and 
 
 WHEREAS, each of these funds is a balanced budget, so that anticipated revenues 
and other financial resources for each fund equal the proposed expenditures or expenses 
and any transfers; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to adopt this Second Budget 
Amendment for Fiscal Year 2015; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  That the proposed changes to the budget, attached hereto as 
Attachment #1 and incorporated herein as a part of this Resolution, are hereby adopted as 
the Second Budget Amendment for the City's Fiscal Year 2015 Budget. 
 
 Section 2.  That the several items of revenues, other financial resources, and 
sources of cash shown in the budget amendment for each fund in the amounts shown 
anticipated are hereby adopted; and that the several amounts shown in the budget 
amendment for each fund as proposed expenditures or expenses, and uses of cash are 
hereby appropriated to the departments and agencies named in each fund, as amendments 
to the existing Budget previously adopted. 
 
 Section 3.  That the "legal level of control" as defined in OCGA 36-81-2 is set at 
the departmental level, meaning that the City Manager in his capacity as Budget Officer 
is authorized to move appropriations from one line item to another within a department, 
but under no circumstances may expenditures or expenses exceed the amount 



appropriated for a department without a further budget amendment approved by the 
Mayor and City Council. 
 
 Section 4.  That all appropriations shall lapse at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
 Section 5.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 
and after its date of adoption. 
 
 Adopted this 19th day of May, 2015. 
 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
By:  Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 



ATTACHMENT #1 
 

FY 2015 SECOND BUDGET AMENDMENT 
 

100 General Fund:  
• Increase Revenues for Building Permits by $85,000. 
• Increase Revenues for Electrical Permits by $22,000. 
• Increase Revenues for Inspection Fees by $50,000. 
• Increase Revenues for Donations – COPS by $9,000. 
• Increase Revenues for Rents and Royalties by $7,150. 
• Increase Revenues for Sale of Assets by $25,600. 
• City Manager’s Office 

o Decrease Expenditures for Regular Employees by $30,000. 
• Elections 

o Increase Expenditures for Temporary Employees by $6,594. 
o Increase Expenditures for Miscellaneous Expenses by $1,446. 

• Financial Administration 
o Increase Expenditures for Insurance Other than Benefits by $17,350. 
o Increase Expenditures for Travel by $2,895. 
o Increase Expenditures for Training by $4,690. 
o Increase Expenditures for Bank Card Charges by $15,000. 
o Increase Expenditures for Bank Charges by $12,000. 

• Legal 
o Increase Expenditures for Legal Fees by $30,000. 

• Human Resources 
o Increase Expenditures for Retirement Contributions by $11,070. 
o Increase Expenditures for Repairs and Maintenance Computers by $8,975. 
o Increase Expenditures for Insurance Other than Benefits by $25,275. 

• General Administration Fees 
o Increase Expenditures for Dues and Fees by $9,056. 

• Municipal Court 
o Increase Expenditures for Jail by $15,000. 
o Increase Expenditures for Da/Victim by $7,000. 
o Increase Expenditures for Peace Officer’s A&B Fund by $3,500. 
o Increase Expenditures for Peace Officers Pros Training by $8,000. 
o Increase Expenditures for Georgia Department of Treasury by $1,100. 
o Increase Expenditures for Georgia Crime Victim Emergency by $400. 
o Increase Expenditures for DHR Financial Service by $1,175. 
o Increase Expenditures for Indigent Fees by $18,000. 

• Police Department 
o Decrease Expenditures for Gasoline/Diesel/CNG by $23,000. 

• Animal Control 
o Increase Expenditures for Payment to Bulloch County by $16,397. 

• Public Works Administration 
o Increase Expenditures for Repairs and Maintenance – Equipment by $10,600. 



• Arts Council 
o Increase Expenditures for Repairs and Maintenance – Grounds by $56. 
o Increase Expenditures for Repairs and Maintenance – Office Equipment by 

$1,741. 
• Economic Development 

o Increase Expenditures for Life/Disability Insurance by $150. 
• Other Financing Uses 

o Increase Expenditure for Transfer to Capital Improvements Fund by $23,000. 
Net effect on Fund is: Increase in Fund Balance by $1,280. 
 

210 Confiscated Assets Fund: 
• Increase Revenues for State Cash Confiscation by $45,000. 
• Increase Expenditures for Repairs and Maintenance – Vehicle Parts by $8,285. 
• Increase Expenditures for CID Supplies by $18,070. 
• Increase Expenditures for Small Tools and Equipment by $15,630. 

Net effect on Fund is:  Increase in Fund Balance by $3,015. 
   

221 CDBG Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

224 US Department of Justice Grant 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

250 Multiple Grants Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

270 Statesboro Fire Service Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

275 Hotel/Motel Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

286 Technology Fee Fund: 
 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:   None. 

 
322 2007 SPLOST Fund: 

• Increase Revenues for GDOT Grant by $208,230. 
Net effect on Fund is:  Increase in Fund Balance by $208,230. 
 



323 2013 SPLOST Fund: 
• Increase Expenditures for PD-34 Printers and Driver’s License Readers by 

$65,000. 
Net effect on Fund is:  Decrease in Fund Balance by $65,000. 
 

                                  341 2013 CDBG Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

350 Capital Improvements Program Fund: 
• Increase Transfer from Genera fund by $23,000. 
• Increase Expenditures for Police Vehicles and Conversion by $23,000. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

505 Water and Sewer Fund:  
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

506 Reclaimed Water System Fund 
• No Changes. 
• Net effect on Fund is:  None  

 
515 Natural Gas Fund: 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
  

541 Solid Waste Collection Fund:   
• Increase Revenues for Roll Off Tippage Fees by $41,600. 
• Increase Revenues for Roll Off Collection Fee by $30,675. 
• Increase Revenues for Sale of Scrap by $5,890. 
• Increase Revenues for Sale of Assets by $7,910.  

Commercial Division 
• Increase Expenses for Depreciation Expense by $35,000. 

Residential Division 
• Increase Expenses for Depreciation Expense by $15,000. 

Yardwaste Division 
• Increase Expenses for Depreciation Expense by $20,000. 

Net effect on Fund is:  Increase in Cash by $16,075. 
 

542 Solid Waste Disposal Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is: None. 
 

601 Health Insurance Fund: 
• No Changes. 



Net effect on Fund is: None. 
 

602 Fleet Management Fund:  
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

603 Workers Compensation Fund:  
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

604 Wellness Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 



























































































Director of Public Safety 

Working together setting high standards 
of excellence in public safety 

 

25 West Grady Street, Statesboro, GA 30458 
912-764-9911(office)  912-489-5050(fax) 

 

Wendell B. Turner  Statesboro Police Department Police Major 
Robert W. Bryan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To:      Director Turner 
Major Bryan 

From: Captain Forney 

Date: May 11, 2015 

Ref:     Body-worn Camera Grant 
 
 
 

It  has  recently   come  to  my  attention  that  the  Department  of Justice  (DOJ) has   just 
announced a body-worn camera  pilot partnership program  to respond  to the needs of local 
law enforcement organizations. In our  effort to further our  community  oriented  policing 
philosophy,  maintain  open  lines of communication with various  community  entities,  and 
continue   to  be  a  transparent Law  enforcement agency,  I  believe  this  is  an  excellent 
opportunity to  obtain  funding  that  would  otherwise be  our  burden.  According to m y  
preliminary review of the grant, we would qualify as a Category 3 applicant as we have less 
than 250 officers. The Bureau of Justice assistance estimates a total of 16 awards would be 
gifted in this c a t e g o r y  f o r  a maximum o f  $250,000   each.  This is a competitive grant 
available n a t i o n w i d e  and will undoubtedly have numerous applicants. In addition, 
t h i s  grant calls for the awarded f accepting agency to match 50% of the requested amount.  
We recently created a CIP project for FY 16 that funds this project at $42,063. It is identified 
as PD-35 and is a Tier I project.  In speaking  with  the  IT Department, they  would  need  an 
additional $5000.00  to create  ample storage  space that  will accommodate all of our video 
recordings. In my estimation, I believe we can fully implement this project for a total of 
approximately $60,000.00. This would m e a n  that  i f  awarded the grant , t he  DOJ  would 
expect us to provide $30,000.00.  This is only a preliminary figure and I suspect t h a t  the 
project will come in lower than expected.  Having this  in mind, I  am asking that  our  City 
Council be  advised  of this  available  grant  and  authorize us to  move  forward  with  the 
application  process.  Because it  is a competitive grant, t h e  a p p l i c a t i o n  process i s  very 
tedious and time consuming. I have only a short period of time to complete this application 
as it is due by June 16, 2015. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Visit us online at: publicsafety.statesboroga.gov  www.facebook.com/StatesboroPoliceDepartment 

http://www.facebook.com/StatesboroPoliceDepartment


 
 RESOLUTION 2015-12: A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO APPLY FOR 

THE"BODY-WORN CAMERA PILOT IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM FY 2015 
COMPETITIVE GRANT" FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
 
 

THAT WHEREAS, the Bureau of Justice Assistance has announced the availability  of a 
Body-Worn Camera Implementation Grant, which may be utilized for the purchase of and 
implementation  of body-worn cameras for patrol officers; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Bureau of Justice Assistance has stated that the City of Statesboro may be 

awarded up to a maximum of $250,000.00, but we anticipate a request of $60,000.00 with a 50% 
matching requirement; 

 
WHERAS, this grant allows the expenditures of the grant funds over a 2 year period 

beginning October 1, 2015 and is reimbursed to the funded agency. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia in regular session assembled this 19th day of May, 2015, hereby authorizes the application 
for the funds awarded by the Department of Justice. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the funding will be through the City of Statesboro's 

Police Department FY 16 CIP Budget for expenditures from this competitive matching grant. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute all 
documents related to the application of said grant. 

 
 
 

Adopted this 19th day of May, 2015 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
 
 

By: Jan Moore, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 



     Janis McCoy
Prepared For:
Statesboro PD       2701 N Rocky Pt Dr N
Marty McClain       Tampa, Fl 33607

 
Date: 5/11/2015

Item # Quantity Unit Price Extended Price 

10NMWPNA 60 282.77$      16,966.20$ 

10NMXP25 1 4,491.00$   4,491.00$   

10NMPS-SSE 1 1,795.00$   1,795.00$   

The prices shown above are effective for 30 Days from date of quote.
Items are subject to availability.

 
Quoted By Total   23,252.20$
Janis McCoy
janis.mccoy@insight.com
813-637-7048

       jmccoy1@insight.com

Decription 

Netmotion	Mobility	Win	Device	Lic

1	Yr	Mobility	Premium	Softw	Maint

NetMotion	Mobile	Solutions	Group	
Sure	Start	Express

Please visit us on the web at www.ips.insight.com



 

Purchasing 

 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Robert Cheshire, City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 
 
DATE: 5-13-2015 
 
Re:   Recommendation—Bid Award Municipal Court Expansion &                          
                                                        Renovations (Old PD Building) 
 
The City of Statesboro issued an invitation to bid to renovate the old City of Statesboro Police Department 
Building on West Grady for use by Municipal Court, Information Technology and the City Gym. 
Renovations included in this contract are; upgrades to the existing area used by Municipal Court (flooring, 
ceiling, wiring, painting, bathroom upgrades, expansion of the Court area, etc..), upgrades to the area to be 
utilized by the IT Department (flooring, ceiling, wiring, etc.) and upgrades to the City Gym (bathroom 
renovations, ceiling improvements, flooring etc…). This invitation to bid was advertised per public works 
law requirements and will be funded by SPLOST 2013, if approved. The City held a mandatory pre-bid 
with seven (7) contractors in attendance. We received three (3) sealed bid responses and they are as 
follows: 
 

Vendor   Base Bid Alt. Deduct Sub Total (minus deduct) 
 

1. BAK Builders  $498,600.00 $139,772.00 $358,828.00 
2. Chris Merrill Const. $420,000.00 $106,000.00 $314,000.00 
3. Dabbs-Williams Const. $520,000.00 $130,000.00 $390,000.00 

 
The alternative deduct portion of this bid (see above) is for the expansion of the Municipal Court Room at 
this facility. This involves taking out a wall and adding 20 plus feet of useable area. There is $385,000.00 
allocated for this project to be funded by 2013 SPLOST. Since it is desired to complete the whole scope of 
this project, we recommend the contract award be made to Chris Merrill Construction in an amount not to 
exceed $385,000.00 as they have met all bid requirements and submitted the lowest responsive sealed bid. 
If approved, we will request Palmer Architects (the selected architectural/engineering firm for this project) 
to value engineer (alternate flooring, ceiling options, various trim elements, etc..) this project to produce 
savings that will hopefully produce a project total within the $385,000.00 budget and, at the same time, 
provide all of the necessary features desired from this project. 


	05-19-2015-Council Agenda
	05-2015 Public Works Week Proclamation 2015
	05-05-2015 Council Minutes
	05-2015-04 ORDINANCE   Water Billing
	05-2015-04 Attachement A Adm Procedures Water and Sewer Billing  Final
	ATTACHMENT "A"
	OF ORDINANCE NO.: __2015-04_____________________
	U1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE
	1.1 PURPOSE
	1.2 EXEMPTIONS FROM TERMINATION OF SERVICE DUE TO HARDSHIP; WAIVER OF LATE FEES, COLLECTION FEES AND DEPOSITS
	1.3 BILLING ADJUSTMENTS DUE TO WATER LEAKS
	1.7 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
	1.7.1:  No employee of the City of Statesboro or a member of the employee’s household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their water or sewer bill without the written consent of the City Manager.
	1.7.2:  No appointed official of the City of Statesboro, e.g. the City Manager, the City Clerk, the City Attorney, and the Municipal Court Judge, or a member of the appointed official’s household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or ad...
	1.7.3: No elected official of the City of Statesboro or a member of the elected official’s household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their water or sewer bill without the written consent of two (2...
	1.8: SEVERABILITY

	05-2015 STAFF REPORT RZ15-03-04_Revised
	05-2015 2  RZ 15-03-04 335 Proctor Street_Petition
	05-2015 STAFF REPORT V15-04-01_Final
	05-2015-11 Resolution on Budget Amendment2 (1)
	05-2015 Police Vehicle Purchases
	05-2015-12 Police Grant Resolution (1)
	05-2015 Netmotion quote for Stateboro PD
	05-2015  Renovations for Municipal COurt and IT building

